
City of Excelsior 
 

Heritage Preservation Commission 

Special Meeting Minutes 
 

Wednesday, March 7, 2012 
 

 

1.  CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 
 

Acting Chair Finch called the meeting to order at 5:45 p.m.  
 

Commissioners Present: Bolles, Macpherson, Meyer, Roden, and Acting 

Chair Finch 
 

Commissioners Absent:   Mueller and Chair Sanders 
 

Also Present:    City Planner Richards and Advisor Caron 

 
2. Site Alteration Permit for Demolition of 368 and 374 George Street and New 

Construction of 400 Water Street   
 

Acting Chair Finch suggested that the Commission begin the meeting by 

reviewing the applicable ordinance standards for demolition of designated 
historic structures and new construction in the downtown district.   

 
Caron reviewed each of the standards for demolition and new construction 
with the Commission.   

 
Bolles reported that he had attended the Planning Commission meeting last 

evening and there was concern expressed by some commissioners about the 
Water Street parking lot setback variance.   
 

Macpherson stated that he had looked at the rear entrances along Water 
Street and noted that many tend to accumulate items like trash bins and 

ashtrays, and that such elements would be too prominent if placed near the 
rear entrances of the proposed building along George Street.   

 
 
Acting Chair Finch commented that he was concerned about the lack of a 

pedestrian orientation to the Water Street sidewalk.   The overall feeling of 
the new building seems to be a departure from the historic nature of small 

town Excelsior.   
 
Bolles asked questions about the site plan with respect to dumpster 

locations.  Richards clarified that the Mason Motors building is not within the 
historic district so is not within the purview of the Commission, but Bolles 

stated that each of the three separate proposed parcels will need to stand on 
its own with respect to dumpsters and similar amenities.  Bolles stated that 
his comments regarding the potential acceptability of the demolition of the 

historic structures are solely based on the proposal presented, and do not 
relate to any future proposals for redevelopment of the site that have not 

been presented and reviewed.    
 



Minutes 
Special Heritage Preservation Commission Meeting 

March 7, 2012 
Page 2 

 
2. Site Alteration Permit for Demolition of 368 and 374 George Street and New 

Construction of 400 Water Street - (Continued) 

 
The Commission discussed each element of the demolition criteria.  The 

Commission concluded that it has sufficient information regarding the merit 
and integrity of the historic structures.  The Commission still had concerns 
and questions about the effect of the demolition and proposed new 

construction on surrounding historic structures, and stressed the need to 
evaluate any demolition of the structures in light of what will replace them, 

as required by the ordinance. 
 
Acting Chair Finch took public comment on the proposal.   

 
Mary Ashley of Pima Lane in Chanhassen and Alan Schneider, stated that 

they were owners of 374 George Street, and the house has been listed for 
sale for 5 years.  A portion of the structure was the library and harness shop 

at one time.  Half of the foundation is stone and the other half was hand dug.  
They stated that the house is in pretty bad shape and they would like to stop 
maintaining it.  The house has served its purpose and other structures are 

more worthy of preservation, including many that have been lost over the 
years. 

 
Paul Tucci of Oppidan, the project developer, presented the plan.  A traffic 
study was done and the City Engineer made four recommendations to 

accommodate the project:  1) adding a right turn lane at George Street; 2) 
adding a right turn lane at Oak Street; 3) prohibiting cut-through traffic from 

George Street to Highway 19; and 4) any trucks should enter from Water 
Street or from Oak Street behind the Choice building.   
 

Finch stated that a goal of the plan should be to attempt to keep traffic off of 
George Street as a residential street.  Tucci stated that reorienting the 

proposed new building is a non-starter due to visibility issues for any grocery 
store tenant.  He stated that they are looking at the potential to add a corner 
entry to the new building at George to have a Water Street entrance.   

 
Project architect Jon Monson stated that he is also looking at minor upgrades 

to the building to give the new building more of a downtown feel.  Monson 
also spoke to his view of the historicity of Excelsior.  He stated that there is a 
notable difference in architecture at the two ends of Water Street, outside of 

the two core blocks of Water Street. He believes that the nature of the 
streetscape changes in these two areas, and that more contemporary styles 

of redevelopment should be permitted as compatible with these areas.  
 
Bolles expressed a concern that arose at the Planning Commission meeting 

that the new building is too symmetrical.  He suggested that part of the 
building could be expanded at the Water Street elevation to partially shield 

the parking area while still maintaining acceptable sight lines.   
 



Minutes 
Special Heritage Preservation Commission Meeting 

March 7, 2012 
Page 3 

 
2. Site Alteration Permit for Demolition of 368 and 374 George Street and New 

Construction of 400 Water Street - (Continued) 

 
Macpherson stated that, while there is a need for balance in the standards to 

be applied, it does not appear to him that the plan has come far enough 
along to clearly meet the standards or support findings-of-fact under the 
ordinance.  He doesn’t hear that there is enough Commission support for the 

current plan to entertain demolition of historic structures.    
 

Roden expressed concern about the new building’s orientation to Water 
Street and its creation of a barrier to the remainder of the downtown area. 
 

Monson objected to the use of the term “strip mall” to describe the new 
structure.  He stated that he could look at adding jogs to the building, or 

turning the front elevation to George Street, but the overall design responds 
to the current orientation of the Mason Motors building.  It was their 

conscious decision to modify the other existing buildings on the site as little 
as possible.  He stated that the developer needed to add a large building on 
George Street to justify the high land costs.  Monson encouraged the 

Commission to look at the project in totality.  He stressed that this developer 
has been successful in attracting grocery store tenants elsewhere, and that 

the changes proposed are minimally invasive for this end of Water Street.   
 
Richards clarified that the new structure meets the commonly used definition 

of a “strip mall.”  Tucci stated that they are trying to deal with grade issues 
of about 4 feet within the first 80 feet of the new building.  They will not 

consider reorienting the building to Water Street or creating an L-shaped 
building.   
 

Bolles suggested that they consider expanding both the front of the intended 
grocery store building and the new building a bit along the Water Street side 

to help screen the parking lot.   
 
Meyer suggested adding a center door on Water Street with a raised walkway 

in front to allow for pedestrian access from Water.   
 

Acting Chair Finch commented that under the City’s design guidelines, the 
proposed entrances on George Street do not tie in or create visual synergy 
with the rest of the downtown, and that such a long building by Excelsior 

standards creates a visual barrier for businesses located across George 
Street.   

 
Joe Ryan, the President of Oppidan, stated that, with all due respect, the 
plan that had been presented would not be changed and that he was asking 

for an up or down vote tonight.    
 



Minutes 
Special Heritage Preservation Commission Meeting 

March 7, 2012 
Page 4 

 
2. Site Alteration Permit for Demolition of 368 and 374 George Street and New 

Construction of 400 Water Street - (Continued) 

 
Bolles asked whether they intended to follow through with the changes that 

the Planning Commission had requested and they had indicated would be 
forthcoming.  Monson stated that he had not yet had time to incorporate the 
Planning Commission feedback.  The Commission determined that it would be 

appropriate to consider the changes to the plan when they were made 
available. 

  
It was moved by Commissioner Bolles, seconded by Commissioner Meyer, to 
continue this item to the next regular meeting scheduled for Tuesday, March 

20, 2012.  Approved unanimously. 
 

3.   UNFINISHED  BUSINESS 
 

a.   Excelsior Congregational Church Windows 
 

Macpherson and Caron discussed their meeting with representatives of the 

Congregational Church and the contractor on site.  It is only the smaller 
windows on the rear side of the church that are proposed to be replaced.  

Silver finish aluminum storms have apparently been added later which cover 
some of the window detail.  The church would like to explore installing 
tempered glass custom windows, in the exact pattern of panes that are there 

today.  The windows are original, and probably date from the late 1960s.  
After brief discussion, it was determined that Macpherson and Caron would 

prepare a recommendation for the next meeting and a Site Alteration Permit 
should be formally presented for action at that time. 

 

4.   ADJOURNMENT 
 

It was moved by Commissioner Macpherson, seconded by Commissioner 
Roden, to adjourn.  Approved unanimously.  Adjourned at 7:50 p.m. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
 
Tim Caron 

Recording Secretary 
 

 
 
 

 
 


